

1 BEFORE THE ARIZONA POWER PLANT AND
2 TRANSMISSION LINE SITING COMMITTEE
3

4 IN THE MATTER OF THE APPLICATION OF)
RE PAPAGO LLC, IN CONFORMANCE WITH) DOCKET NO.
5 THE REQUIREMENT OF ARIZONA REVISED) L-21151A-21-0110-
STATUTES 40-360, et seq., FOR A) 00189
6 CERTIFICATE OF ENVIRONMENTAL)
COMPATIBILITY AUTHORIZING) Case No. 189
7 CONSTRUCTION OF THE RE PAPAGO SOLAR)
GEN-TIE PROJECT, WHICH CONSISTS OF A)
8 34.5/500KV GEN-TIE TRANSMISSION)
LINE INTERCONNECTING A PHOTOVOLTAIC)
9 SOLAR GENERATING FACILITY TO THE)
ADJACENT DELANEY SUBSTATION IN)
10 MARICOPA COUNTY NEAR SALOME HIGHWAY)
AND COURTHOUSE ROAD, APPROXIMATELY)
11 5.5 MILES WEST OF TONOPAH, ARIZONA) PREHEARING
) CONFERENCE

12

13 At: Phoenix, Arizona
14 Date: June 14, 2021
15 Filed: June 18, 2021
16

17 REPORTER'S TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS
18

19

20

21 COASH & COASH, INC.
Court Reporting, Video & Videoconferencing
22 1802 N. 7th Street, Phoenix, AZ 85006
602-258-1440 staff@coashandcoash.com
23

24 By: Colette E. Ross, CR
Certified Reporter
Certificate No. 50658
25

1 BE IT REMEMBERED that the above-entitled and
2 numbered matter came on regularly to be heard via
3 videoconference before the Arizona Power Plant and
4 Transmission Line Siting Committee, Phoenix, Arizona,
5 commencing at 2:05 p.m. on the 14th of June, 2021.

6

7 BEFORE: THOMAS K. CHENAL, Chairman

8

9 APPEARANCES:

10 For the Applicant:

11 MOYES SELLERS & HENDRICKS, LTD
12 By Mr. Jason Moyes
13 1850 North Central Avenue, Suite 1100
14 Phoenix, Arizona 85004

15 For Potential Intervenor Ellwood Land Holdings, LLC:

16 OSBORN MALEDON
17 By Ms. Meghan H. Grabel
18 2929 North Central Avenue, 21st Floor
19 Phoenix, Arizona 85012

20

21

22

23

24

25

1 ALSO PRESENT:

2 Ms. Christy Herron, Recurrent Energy, Permitting
3 Manager (West)

4 Ms. Marina Solomon, Recurrent Energy, Development
5 Manager (West)

6 Mr. Scott Dawson, Recurrent Energy, Director of
7 Permitting

8 Mr. Dennis Desmarais, Recurrent Energy, Director,
9 Transmission

10 Mr. Michael L. Warner, Transcon Environmental,
11 Principal, Project Environmental Consultant

12 Mr. Brian Parker, Transcon Environmental,
13 Project Manager

14 Mr. Christopher Melisi, Transcon Environmental,
15 Biologist/Environmental Scientist

16 Ms. Julie Larsen, Paralegal

17 Mr. Tod Brewer, Assistant to Chairman Chenal

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

1 CHMN. CHENAL: This is the time set for the
2 prehearing conference on the Papago LLC. It should be
3 the RE Papago LLC prehearing conference.

4 May I have appearances, please. Mr. Moyes why
5 don't we start with you, and then Ms. Grabel.

6 MR. MOYES: Good afternoon, Chairman Chenal.
7 Jason Moyes with the law firm of Moyes, Sellers &
8 Hendricks on behalf of the applicant, RE Papago LLC.

9 MS. GRABEL: Thank you, Chairman. Meghan Grabel
10 from the law firm Osborn Maledon on behalf of Ellwood
11 Land Holdings. We have filed a notice of intent to be a
12 party in this case.

13 CHMN. CHENAL: All right. So I have my normal
14 checklist here. I don't think this is going to take
15 long, and this doesn't seem like a complicated hearing.
16 It is short, the length is short. But then there is the
17 issue of intervention by Ellwood. So that's going to
18 add -- it is going to make the hearing, I think, a
19 little more interesting. And I don't know how much of
20 that has been, you know, worked out.

21 I did read the proposed conditions that were
22 requested in the, in the notice. So we will get into
23 that. But obviously I think that's going to -- you
24 know, we set aside essentially two and a half days for
25 that, so I am going to -- when we get to that part of my

1 checklist, I would be interested to hear if you think
2 that's still a reasonable, you know, time frame.

3 Mr. Moyes, as is usually the case, lawyers say,
4 well, it can be done in a half day, and then say, well,
5 it is not going to be a half day, it will be at least a
6 day, no, a day and a half. And then they always say,
7 well, that's, you know, ridiculous, of course we will
8 get it done in a day and a half. And then I am always
9 adding a little extra time.

10 So are there any other, any other entities or
11 persons in interest other than Ellwood, Mr. Moyes, that
12 you are aware of?

13 MR. MOYES: Not that we are aware of. And as
14 you will see in the draft CEC language I gave you, we
15 had submitted that prior to receiving Ellwood's official
16 filing on Friday. So we listed it as no intervenors at
17 that time.

18 But Meghan and I have already spoken this
19 morning. And I won't speak for her obviously as to what
20 their intent is, but I am confident that this
21 intervention isn't going to overly burden the
22 proceedings in any way that would lead us to need to
23 extend it for any reason.

24 CHMN. CHENAL: All right. Good.

25 All right. Some of the, or a lot of the items I

1 normally go over, I mean I have seen that they have been
2 covered.

3 The notice to affected jurisdictions, obviously
4 the notice of hearing, I just -- Mr. Moyes, has the
5 applicant complied with the posting and publishing
6 requirements that we discussed at the prefiling
7 conference and the procedural order.

8 MR. MOYES: Yes, we have. And you should have a
9 copy of all of those signs, mailers, all of the notices
10 in the exhibits that we filed on Friday.

11 CHMN. CHENAL: Okay. And then the agenda, is
12 there anything that, in the agenda, that you or,
13 Ms. Grabel, you are aware of that needs to be revised in
14 any way? It is just a standard agenda form, but I
15 thought I would ask.

16 MR. MOYES: Not from my perspective.

17 Meghan, if you haven't had a chance to see the
18 agenda, I can forward that to you. Obviously you can
19 pull it up in the docket as well.

20 MS. GRABEL: Thanks. Although, if it is the
21 standard form, I am familiar with it. And I don't see
22 any reason why I would have a problem with it.

23 CHMN. CHENAL: Well, if you do notice something,
24 I would ask you just to let me know so we can re-issue
25 it before -- we want to do it before Friday afternoon --

1 MS. GRABEL: Sure.

2 CHMN. CHENAL: -- the hearing starts.

3 Okay. So the hearing, it is going to start
4 Monday afternoon at 1:00 at the Hilton Garden Inn, if I
5 remember correctly.

6 MR. MOYES: Correct.

7 CHMN. CHENAL: And we will go to our normal
8 5:00. 5:30 there will be public comment in the evening.
9 Do we expect any?

10 MR. MOYES: We do think there may be some
11 limited, small amount of comment in support of the
12 project, Chairman --

13 CHMN. CHENAL: Okay. All right. Good.

14 MR. MOYES: -- from local officials.

15 CHMN. CHENAL: All right.

16 MR. MOYES: Possibly some in person, more likely
17 more from the Zoom link.

18 CHMN. CHENAL: I don't know how many of the
19 members are going to be appearing in person versus,
20 versus by Zoom.

21 Tod, do you happen to know? Tod, I don't -- are
22 you on mute?

23 I don't see him.

24 MR. MOYES: Chairman, I know Tod has told me
25 before he believes only one would be virtual, all the

1 rest would be in person --

2 CHMN. CHENAL: Okay. Somehow --

3 MR. MOYES: -- last I heard.

4 CHMN. CHENAL: Okay. At the previous hearing we
5 have done, you know, we have had a hybrid hearing. Most
6 of the Committee members appeared in person. And this
7 one is local, so I kind of expect almost everybody will.
8 So we will have mostly a full house.

9 What is the -- what arrangements have you made
10 for the hearing itself in terms of the, you know, the
11 way it is going to be set up and run?

12 MR. MOYES: The IT company that we are using is
13 Peaks Audio, which did the setup for your most recent
14 case up in Kingman. From all reports, they did a good
15 job.

16 CHMN. CHENAL: Very good.

17 MR. MOYES: And they have been out to the hotel.
18 They have tested the wi-fi and are already well on their
19 way for room setup and accommodations.

20 We have got the food all taken care of. We have
21 been working -- Tod has been great in getting that
22 coordinated with our team. And as far as I know and
23 believe, I think all of the logistics are set up and in
24 order.

25 CHMN. CHENAL: Okay. And for food, how do we

1 have that set up? Lunches and breakfast?

2 MR. MOYES: Yes. I'll, with your permission, I
3 will let Brian Parker from our team, who has been
4 coordinating that with Tod, explain what the specifics
5 of the hotel's food arrangement will be, if that's okay.

6 Brian.

7 CHMN. CHENAL: Absolutely.

8 MR. PARKER: Good afternoon, Mr. Chairman. I am
9 Brian Parker. I'm basically the project manager for
10 environmental side of Transcon.

11 In working with Tod, basically how the food is
12 going to roll out is there is kind of a continental
13 breakfast available, two different choices, kind of a
14 meat choice or a veggie choice. And then for lunches,
15 the first day, just kind of grab-and-go sandwiches,
16 various ham, turkey, roast beef, whatever. And then
17 Tuesday we will have a choice between two meals for
18 lunch, same breakfast as before, and same for Wednesday.

19 So I believe you may have seen the menu. And I
20 think we have your choices already, Mr. Chairman, and I
21 think a handful of others. So we are, like Jason said,
22 we are working with Tod to try to nail down those
23 orders. If we don't get one, we will just go ahead and
24 choose the most popular one for everybody else remaining
25 that put their order in.

1 CHMN. CHENAL: Great. Make sure you get
2 Ms. Grabel's.

3 MR. PARKER: Okay.

4 MR. MOYES: Yes.

5 CHMN. CHENAL: And we will get to the
6 intervenors. I want to hear about the concerns in more
7 detail here, but let's just get rid of some of these,
8 you know, housekeeping items first.

9 I always ask for, since there is not going to be
10 a tour, and it is a third of a mile long anyway, but
11 just kind of a Google flyover. We will have some Google
12 flyover I am assuming, yes?

13 MR. MOYES: Yes. Our environmental firm has put
14 together a great presentation, both a Google Earth
15 virtual representation of the area with the potential
16 structures built in, as well as an actual drone video of
17 the area and the surroundings.

18 CHMN. CHENAL: Okay. And there will be good,
19 robust wi-fi at the hearing site?

20 MR. MOYES: Yes.

21 CHMN. CHENAL: Yes, good. That's important.

22 Business casual, please. It is summer. I mean
23 I always, I -- recently I had someone show up in a suit.
24 And I felt kind of sad I didn't mention it. So I have
25 now added it to my little checklist here. Business

1 casual, especially if it is going to be 115 degrees.

2 That's ridiculous, but that's what we are dealing with.

3 All right. I see the applicant filed the, you
4 know, exhibits and -- notice of filing of exhibits and
5 summaries. Have you had a chance, Mr. Moyes, to share
6 those with Ms. Grabel?

7 MR. MOYES: I have not yet. I am happy to send
8 her everything we have that she doesn't have access to.
9 Or if it is more convenient for me to mail them directly
10 to her, email, we will of course do that.

11 CHMN. CHENAL: Okay. That would --

12 MS. GRABEL: Email would be great. Thank you,
13 Jason.

14 CHMN. CHENAL: Okay, great. I want to make
15 sure, too, the applicant met with the Corporation
16 Commission Staff and has confirmed that it will be
17 responsible for any costs associated with the hearing.
18 Is that correct, Mr. Moyes?

19 MR. MOYES: Yes. And one of the exhibits that
20 was filed on Friday is a letter to the business office
21 confirming our financial position and willingness to
22 cover any overages beyond the application fee.

23 CHMN. CHENAL: All right. Very good.

24 And will the applicant also have available
25 sign-in sheets for any, anyone who wants to make public

1 comment, which would include their name and contact
2 information?

3 MR. MOYES: Yes, we will.

4 CHMN. CHENAL: Okay. I am just trying to go
5 through this as quickly as possible so we can get to
6 what I think will be a little more important for me to
7 know, and that is Ms. Grabel. Okay, good.

8 Oh, and the last point, the lodging
9 arrangements, I know you have made those and the
10 applicant is going to pay for that part of it, and the
11 Committee members just have to make reservations at the
12 facility. Is that correct?

13 MR. MOYES: That's correct. And, again, Tod has
14 been very helpful in working that out with Brian and
15 making sure that Committee members know how to make
16 those reservations and what name to book them under.
17 But those are all taken care of.

18 CHMN. CHENAL: Approximately how much of a
19 distance between the hotel and the hearing site?

20 MR. MOYES: Oh, good question. I should know
21 that offhand. From Avondale, you know, we are just out
22 past Tonopah, so it is probably a good 45-minute drive
23 from the hotel to the site.

24 CHMN. CHENAL: Okay. I didn't ask the question
25 clearly. From the hotel to the hearing site.

1 MR. MOYES: To the hearing site?

2 CHMN. CHENAL: Where the hearing is. In other
3 words --

4 MR. MOYES: I haven't been to the hotel myself,
5 Chairman. I believe it is just a conference room
6 located inside the hotel.

7 CHMN. CHENAL: Okay. We have had a lot of
8 hearings lately, and I have like four applications that
9 I am studying. I was thinking this is the one where the
10 hearing was in one location and the hotel is in a
11 different location. But that's not the case, right?
12 The hearing is at the hotel, is that correct?

13 MR. MOYES: That's correct, yes.

14 CHMN. CHENAL: Okay. I apologize. We seem to
15 have a lot of applications floating our way. They are
16 occurring in June, July, August, September. I know
17 there are a number of people on a holding pattern trying
18 to get in place for October. So that's the one thing I
19 didn't pull out and look at before we started the
20 hearing.

21 So, Ms. Grabel, what is the -- tell me about
22 your project, what the concern is, I know generally from
23 having read your notice, but, you know, to maybe let me
24 hear from you and, you know, your concerns.

25 MS. GRABEL: Certainly, Chairman. And let me

1 just say we have no concerns with the applicant.

2 Delaney is a very congested area generally. There are a
3 number of developers there trying to build in this area.
4 And we also have to coordinate with one another so that
5 neither of our projects impact the others' ability to
6 access the Delaney substation.

7 And so my client is interested in being an
8 intervening party more in an observatory fashion, we
9 hoped, just to make sure that whatever route obtained is
10 one that doesn't impact our ability to access Delaney.
11 But we think the condition is also important so that,
12 going forward, we just make sure we don't kind of impede
13 on one another's efforts.

14 That's essentially the gist of it.

15 CHMN. CHENAL: I mean we are going to be looking
16 at a particular location for this, for this line. It is
17 short; it is 0.3 miles.

18 MS. GRABEL: Right.

19 CHMN. CHENAL: So I mean I saw the conditions
20 were basically aspirational, you know, work with the
21 landowner and try to not have it built in a way that
22 would interfere with our ability to place our projects.

23 But, I mean, are you intending to have some
24 testimony of where your project is going to be located
25 and where the possible lines would be and where a

1 conflict could occur and we should be aware not to place
2 the line? I guess that's what I am more concerned with.

3 MS. GRABEL: I think as the Committee kind of
4 looks at the various routes that are proposed, and I
5 think in this case there is only one proposed route --

6 Is that correct?

7 MR. MOYES: That's correct.

8 MS. GRABEL: -- I think, I think that my client
9 just wants to monitor the proceedings, and if there is
10 some sort of deviation proposed that could impact its
11 ability to develop its project, it wants to reserve the
12 ability to cross-examine and potentially present witness
13 testimony. But at this point we don't intend to do so,
14 and we hope that our participation doesn't delay the
15 proceedings in any way.

16 CHMN. CHENAL: Okay. So do you have any
17 proposed exhibits or testimony at this point?

18 MS. GRABEL: Not at this time, no.

19 CHMN. CHENAL: Well, what if it develops that
20 you want to ask -- what if it takes a turn and you want
21 to, you know, have testimony or exhibits?

22 MS. GRABEL: Could we present them as a
23 late-filed exhibit as we have in past proceedings?

24 CHMN. CHENAL: Well, I think so. But if you
25 know who they are going to be or could be, I would

1 rather have them ahead of time, even if it's a general
2 summary or a map or something, some basic rudimentary
3 evidence that just gives a heads up as to, you know, if
4 you needed it. Because I don't want to unfairly
5 prejudice Mr. Moyes.

6 I mean I get it is very unlikely there is going
7 to be a conflict, it's going to be monitoring and it
8 should work out, there shouldn't be an issue. But if it
9 does happen that there is a real conflict, it's like,
10 oh, my God, the light bulb goes off. You know, I would
11 rather not have to delay the hearing, you know, to give
12 time for, you know, for the witnesses and exhibits you
13 want to produce. I would like to have that ahead of
14 time so we can get this done in three, two and a half
15 days.

16 MS. GRABEL: Well, understood. I can talk to my
17 client and give you the name of the witness we would
18 present, were one to be necessary, and a map of our
19 project. That's easy, easily done.

20 CHMN. CHENAL: And I think that's all we would
21 need at this point.

22 MS. GRABEL: Okay.

23 CHMN. CHENAL: If you think of anything else, I
24 think we can deal with it on the fly.

25 MS. GRABEL: Okay, great.

1 CHMN. CHENAL: Okay?

2 So, Mr. Moyes, any concerns with what you just
3 heard?

4 MR. MOYES: No. That would be helpful if we had
5 an identification of who the witness might be and, as
6 Meghan said, a map of what their routes might be.

7 I appreciate you being concerned that we not be
8 surprised or unfairly prejudiced by some bombshell being
9 dropped at the hearing. We, too, don't want a simple
10 and, up to this point, uncontroversial project to be
11 delayed in any way. And I don't think that will happen.
12 Certainly in my discussions with Meghan, I don't
13 anticipate that. But we, of course, like any
14 proceeding, ask that we be given fair and timely notice
15 of anything so that we are not unfairly surprised.

16 CHMN. CHENAL: Sure. And I don't see that this
17 is going to lead to any surprises, but I don't want to
18 have a delay last minute either.

19 All right. I just briefly looked at the
20 proposed CEC. I don't -- my sense is that there are
21 conditions that Ms. Grabel would like to see and that
22 are not in there.

23 But let me ask this question, Mr. Moyes. Have
24 you seen the conditions that were proposed by Ellwood --

25 MR. MOYES: I have.

1 CHMN. CHENAL: -- and the letter of intent?
2 Does the applicant have a problem with either of those?

3 MR. MOYES: I don't think we have a problem with
4 those. I haven't formally consulted with my client as
5 to what heartburn they may have with the particular
6 wording. But they are fairly generic statements.

7 Certainly my client intends to behave with a
8 reasonable -- reasonably prudent business standard for
9 any developer in the industry. And we will certainly do
10 that, and we want to be good neighbors. We will behave
11 accordingly.

12 CHMN. CHENAL: All right. Well, to the extent
13 you can, work out any language ahead of time that would
14 be -- I think would ensure this hearing be completed in
15 the time frame we are anticipating.

16 MR. MOYES: Okay.

17 CHMN. CHENAL: Let's see. Is the applicant
18 intending to have like iPads or Surface Pros with
19 anything with the documents, exhibits --

20 MR. MOYES: Yes.

21 CHMN. CHENAL: -- loaded?

22 MR. MOYES: Yes. And Peaks is prepared to
23 provide the same. I am not sure if they used iPads or
24 laptops at your Golden Valley project, but they will be
25 doing the same setup as before.

1 CHMN. CHENAL: Perfect.

2 MR. MOYES: And that brings up a question I had,
3 which I had asked Tod. We weren't sure if he also
4 needed to produce hard-copy printed binders with tabs
5 and exhibits in them as we used to do or if they will
6 just plan on pulling up everything on their computer. I
7 am not sure how you handled that at the last hearing.

8 CHMN. CHENAL: What I ask, Mr. Moyes -- it's a
9 good question -- what I ask is you have maybe a couple
10 binders available just in case.

11 MR. MOYES: Okay.

12 CHMN. CHENAL: I mean presumably you filed
13 everything and everything has been mailed to the
14 Committee members. So if they want it, they have it.
15 But I think just as a safety precaution, let's have a
16 couple binders available just in case someone wants to
17 refer to something or forgot to bring theirs.

18 MR. MOYES: Great.

19 CHMN. CHENAL: But at this point the Committee
20 is pretty savvy with using, you know, the computers or
21 iPads, whatever, you know, access it that way.

22 MR. MOYES: Okay.

23 CHMN. CHENAL: And that's what they do. Good.

24 I am just checking. I don't think I have
25 anything further. This could be the shortest prehearing

1 conference I have ever had.

2 MR. MOYES: Let's hope it is the shortest
3 hearing as well.

4 CHMN. CHENAL: No, I think you and your father
5 have that record.

6 MR. MOYES: Yeah. We got one done in half a
7 day, didn't we?

8 CHMN. CHENAL: Yeah.

9 Just a reminder on how we do the deliberations.
10 We will have, when we actually get to those -- and,
11 again, I mean, if this thing goes really fast, we will
12 finish this on Tuesday. Okay.

13 But my preference is always to start the
14 deliberations in the morning, which would be Wednesday
15 morning. Obviously, if this is completed, you know, in
16 the morning of Tuesday, you know, we will finish it on
17 Tuesday. But I just, I just have learned from
18 experience that it is much quicker, it is better when we
19 have a -- you know, start fresh in the morning the
20 deliberations.

21 The deliberations, as we now have a custom and
22 practice of doing, we will have two screens up in front
23 of the Committee. And on the left-hand side would be
24 the applicant's proposed CEC with any additions that I
25 may have, I may add just for discussion's sake. And I

1 don't know that I will have any. But the one that will
2 be on the left-hand screen will include the two
3 conditions of Ms. Grabel plus the ones, Mr. Moyes, you
4 have offered. And we will look at the CEC and see if
5 there is anything you want to add. But that will
6 become, if you will, the left screen, that will have
7 like an exhibit number.

8 Then on the right-hand screen we will have the
9 same document, but that will be our working document in
10 the sense that any changes we make will show up as a
11 track change. And the left screen will remain static.
12 The document will remain static throughout. The right
13 screen -- which each of those documents that we will be
14 working from will have exhibit numbers. It might be
15 Chairman's Exhibit, you know, 1 and 2, whatever.

16 But it is, the left will be the one that's kind
17 of what we start the deliberations with. And the right
18 hand will be the one we end up with, all the, you know,
19 track changes, changes, additions, subtractions,
20 whatever. And then those two will be exhibits. And
21 you will take that, assuming it is approved by the
22 Committee, you will take that marked-up document and
23 take it back to the office and then send me a clean
24 version of it, you know, with any scrivener's errors
25 accounted for so anyone reading the transcript will be

1 able to see, with the two documents, the changes that
2 are made and be able to follow the discussion of the
3 deliberations. Because if you, if you don't, it gets
4 hopelessly confused. You just don't know -- you know,
5 it becomes hopelessly confused. So we need to know what
6 we start with, what we end up, showing the track
7 changes. And it has worked out, I think, very well.
8 And one is able to read the transcript and follow along,
9 so... And then you will send it to me. And then we
10 sign it and get it filed.

11 So that's kind of what we will do on the last
12 day. And even in an easy CEC, it still takes time to go
13 through. As you remember, you know, we will go through
14 and we will go paragraph by paragraph and approve the
15 language as to form. And then when we finalize the
16 document, we will approve it or vote on it, you know,
17 substantively.

18 So is that pretty clear? Any questions on that?

19 MR. MOYES: Very clear. Thank you.

20 CHMN. CHENAL: I think that's all I have.

21 Are there any questions, concerns, thoughts,
22 issues we should bring up and talk about before we
23 adjourn?

24 MR. MOYES: Not that I know of.

25 CHMN. CHENAL: Ms. Grabel, anything you can

1 think of?

2 MS. GRABEL: Nothing from me. Thank you,
3 Mr. Chairman.

4 CHMN. CHENAL: I always think of things, you
5 know, after we conclude the hearing, I always think of
6 something. But I, I mean this really is one of the
7 shortest I ever had, but not the shortest.

8 Okay. If something comes up, let me know. I
9 mean we don't start until Monday, so, you know, if
10 something comes up this week, let me know and we will
11 figure out how to meet and deal with any procedural
12 aspects.

13 If not, going once, going twice; we are done.

14 Well, thank you. And we will see you Monday.
15 Looking forward to this hearing.

16 MS. GRABEL: Thank you.

17 CHMN. CHENAL: And we are adjourned.

18 MR. MOYES: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

19 (The proceeding concluded at 2:29 p.m.)
20
21
22
23
24
25

1 STATE OF ARIZONA)
2 COUNTY OF MARICOPA)

3 BE IT KNOWN that the foregoing proceedings were
4 taken before me; that the foregoing pages are a full,
5 true, and accurate record of the proceedings all done to
6 the best of my skill and ability; that the proceedings
7 were taken down by me in shorthand and thereafter
8 reduced to print under my direction.

9 I CERTIFY that I am in no way related to any of
10 the parties hereto nor am I in any way interested in the
11 outcome hereof.

12 I CERTIFY that I have complied with the
13 ethical obligations set forth in ACJA 7-206(F)(3) and
14 ACJA 7-206 (J)(1)(g)(1) and (2). Dated at Phoenix,
15 Arizona, this ^ DAY day of ^ MONTH, 2021.

16 

17 _____
18 COLETTE E. ROSS
19 Certified Reporter
20 Certificate No. 50658

21 I CERTIFY that Coash & Coash, Inc., has complied
22 with the ethical obligations set forth in ACJA 7-206
23 (J)(1)(g)(1) through (6).

24 

25 _____
COASH & COASH, INC.
Registered Reporting Firm
Arizona RRF No. R1036